
IN THE SUPERIOR COURT FOR THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA 
 

WINSTON CLARKE and LISA GREENE-CLARKE, ) 
1726 33rd Place, SE      ) 
Washington, DC 20020,     ) 
LUCINDA WOODLAND,     ) 
2614 Branch Avenue, SE     ) 
Washington, DC  20020,     ) 
DENEANE PROCTOR,     ) 
22 Randle Circle, SE      ) 
Washington, DC  20019,      ) 
ADRIA HENSON,      ) 
614 Madison Street, NE     ) 
Washington, DC  20011,     ) 
MARIA THOMPSON-PUMPHREY,   ) 
4320 Livingston Road, SE, Apt. C    ) 
Washington, DC  20032,     ) 
LARISSA CROSSON,     ) 
5314 East Capitol Street, NE     ) 
Washington, DC  20019,     ) 
LISA BURKETT,      ) 
3427 Reservoir Road, NW     ) 
Washington, DC  20007,     ) 
RENEE POWELL,      ) 
5375 Blaine Street, NE     ) 
Washington, DC  20019,     ) 
individually and on behalf of similarly-situated  ) 
JOHN DOE NOS. 1-156,     ) 
        )  

Plaintiffs,      ) 
        ) 

v.      )   Case No. ______________ 
        ) 
DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA, through its   ) 
OFFICE OF THE STATE     ) 
SUPERINTENDENT OF EDUCATION,   ) 
Serve: Attorney General of the District of Columbia  )    
 441 4th Street NW, Room 600 South   ) 
 Washington, DC  20001,    ) 
        ) 
 Defendant.      ) 
                              ) 
 

COMPLAINT FOR A DECLARATORY JUDGMENT, 
TEMPORARY RESTRAINING ORDER AND INJUNCTION 
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 COME NOW WINSTON CLARKE and LISA GREENE-CLARKE, LUCINDA 

M. WOODLAND, DENEANE PROCTOR, ADRIA HENSON, MARIA THOMPSON-

PUMPHREY, LARISSA CROSSON, LISA BURKETT, and RENEE POWELL, 

individually and on behalf of additional similarly-situated JOHN DOE NOS. 1-1561

OVERVIEW 

 

(“Plaintiffs”), by and through undersigned counsel, and for their Complaint against the 

District of Columbia and its Office of the State Superintendent of Education (“OSSE”), 

hereby state as follows: 

1. This case arises from recent, unprecedented actions, taken in violation of 

Plaintiffs’ due process and other rights, by OSSE, which has wrongfully declared 164 

Ellington students ineligible to attend DC schools, told them that non-resident tuition is 

or will now be imposed, and referred all Plaintiffs to the DC Attorney General for further 

legal actions, based on OSSE’s supposed findings of “residency fraud.”  The basis for 

OSSE’s stated findings of fraud has still not been revealed.  While OSSE’s actions in this 

investigation raise a number of concerns, the Complaint focuses narrowly on OSSE’s 

decision letter, which utterly fails to give Plaintiffs their required notice of appellate and 

other rights.  Because those rights may expire soon (May 23, 2018), this Complaint (and 

a related TRO request) seek Court relief by Wednesday at Noon, and a Declaratory 

                                                        
1 John Doe Nos. 1-156 connote all other persons on a list of 164 names that OSSE has 
publicly identified (generically) as students to whom it sent Notices as “deemed” non-
residents ineligible to return to Duke Ellington School of the Arts, and subject to non-
resident tuition payments.  Although 5A DCMR § 5008.6 requires that OSSE make the 
results of its investigation available upon request, OSSE has not shared its actual list of 
164 names with Duke Ellington School of the Arts’ administration, or with anyone at all 
who might be able to advise these families on their rights (including whether to appeal 
their Notice), despite undersigned counsel’s repeated requests. 
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Judgment that OSSE’s Notice letter is inadequate, null and void.  Plaintiffs should be 

advised of their rights as DC law requires, and OSSE cannot fairly benefit from its own 

failures to provide that advice of rights.  This Court should further declare that the cases 

cannot become “final” agency actions until Plaintiffs first receive their due process rights. 

PARTIES 

2. Plaintiffs are representatives of students and/or students who currently 

attend the Duke Ellington School of the Arts (“Ellington”), a public arts high school in 

Washington, DC – the same group of 164 students OSSE recently deemed non-residents. 

3. OSSE, established under the Office of the Mayor, serves as the state 

education agency for the District of Columbia, and under applicable federal law. 

JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

4. The jurisdiction of this Court is properly invoked under D.C. Code § 11-

921(a)(6).  Personal jurisdiction is appropriate over the Defendant under D.C. Code § 

13422.  Venue is appropriate in this Court, as the actions complained of herein occurred 

in the District of Columbia.  

STATEMENT OF FACTS 

5. On or about May 9, 2018, OSSE issued an apparent form letter, which was 

ostensibly mailed to all Plaintiffs in this action.  See Exhibit A.  OSSE’s form letter stated 

that “[a]n investigation of District residency for the student referenced below has been 

conducted by the Office of Enrollment and Residency.  In accordance with SA DCMR 

§5009 § 5009 [sic], OSSE hereby finds that the above-named student(s) is NOT a 

resident of DC, and thus is, ineligible to attend a District school tuition-free.” 
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6. OSSE’s form letter further stated that “Non-Resident Tuition is will [sic] 

be assessed” and then also ominously warned that “your case will be referred to the OAG 

[Office of the Attorney General] for further action.” 

7. OSSE’s letter did not provide Plaintiffs with any opportunity for review. 

8. OSSE’S letter did not give a basis for its finding, explain deficiencies, or 

provide any details at all on why it had concluded that the student is not a DC resident. 

9. OSSE’s letter contained no notice of appeal rights, and no reference to 

how any review must be in writing and received by OSSE within 10 business days. 

10. OSSE’s letter failed to advise the Plaintiffs that if no timely appeal is filed, 

the decisions conveyed in OSSE’s letter would at that point become a final agency action. 

11. OSSE’s letter also failed to “[e]xplain that the student may remain 

enrolled at that school [where] he or she is attending school until a final administrative 

decision is made,” as required by DC regulations. 

12. Two days after these letters were issued, on May 11, 2018, OSSE released 

to the public its “May 2018 Report on Residency Investigation at Duke Ellington School 

of the Arts.”  The Report noted that OSSE claimed to have identified 164 Ellington 

students that it “deemed” non-DC residents who were not paying out-of-state tuition as 

required.  OSSE’s Report also said that all of these 164 students would be ineligible to 

return to Ellington in the next school year. 

13. OSSE has not produced its list of these 164 Ellington students, or a 

separate list of 56 other Ellington students that OSSE has described as still being “under 

investigation,” to Ellington officials or others, despite repeated requests, see Exhibit B, 

thereby hindering third party efforts to advise these students of their due process rights. 
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14. OSSE’s Notice letter to Plaintiffs fails in a variety of ways to comply with 

due process and the specific notice requirements of DC law. 

15. Among those particulars is a clear requirement that recipients of such 

letters must be advised of their appellate rights, and the 10-business day deadline for the 

exercise of such rights.  Without this advice-of-rights, OSSE’s notice letter is so deficient 

that it cannot fairly start Plaintiffs’ appeal clock, and must be declared null and void. 

16. That conclusion is particularly warranted given OSSE’s later, continuing 

actions in refusing to release its lists of affected Ellington students, including the list 

naming these 164 affected Plaintiffs, which represents a willful, bad faith attempt by 

OSSE to hinder third-party efforts to reach these affected parties to advise them of their 

due process rights, including their deadline to appeal OSSE’s findings, before it expires. 

17. Without Court action, it is likely that many never-advised Plaintiffs may 

fail to exercise their rights of appeal before that deadline expires on May 23, 2018. 

18. Without Court action, OSSE after May 23, 2018 would likely seek to 

declare that all un-appealed notice letters have become final agency actions – resulting 

thereafter (as a collateral consequence) in possible legal bars to future challenges or 

appeals, with Plaintiffs thereafter prejudiced through restrictions on their right to 

challenge OSSE’s residency determination, their right to have their students attend 

Ellington or another DCPS school, and their right to avoid out-of-state tuition charges. 

19. Even among Plaintiffs who may have independently learned of this 

upcoming appeal deadline, OSSE’s decision letter provides no basis at all for its decision; 

thus, even these Plaintiffs cannot fairly evaluate their options and make a fair decision on 

how to proceed at present, without a better understanding of their prospects on appeal. 
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20. OSSE should not be able benefit from its own failure to provide this basic 

information, including advice of appellate rights, which the law says it must provide. 

21. To prevent their loss of due process and other rights, Plaintiffs now 

approach this Court, seeking the immediate relief necessary to prevent that forfeiture. 

CLAIMS FOR RELIEF 

Count One 
Violation of DC Laws and Regulatory Requirements 

(Under 5A DCMR §§ 5009.2 & 5009.3) 
 

22. Plaintiffs hereby incorporate all previous paragraphs of this Complaint as 

if set forth herein verbatim. 

23. Plaintiffs seek a declaratory judgment that OSSE’s Notice letter issued on 

May 9, 2018 fails to comply with the legal requirements of DC law, and that it should 

thus be declared null and void, rather than starting a clock on deadlines to request review. 

24. District of Columbia law, codified in 5A DCMR § 5009 (“Non-Resident 

Students:  Finding of Non-Residency and Notification”), lays out the procedures that 

should be followed when OSSE makes a finding of non-residency.  These requirements 

of DC law were not followed in OSSE’s Notice letters sent to any of these Plaintiffs: 

25. 5A DCMR § 5009.2 states, “When OSSE issues a finding that a student is 

not a resident of the District of Columbia, OSSE shall provide the adult student, the self-

supporting student, or the parent, guardian, custodian or other primary caregiver of the 

minor student written notification of the finding and an opportunity for review as 

specified in this chapter.”  No such review was offered by OSSE at all; instead, its 

Notice letter states without any caveat that “Non-Resident Tuition is will [sic] be 

assessed in accordance with 5A DCMR § 5000, et seq. based on the Uniform Per 
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Student Funding Formula,” and further, that “your case will be referred to the 

OAG for further action.” 

26. 5A DCMR § 5009.3(a) states that the written notification shall “include 

the basis for finding that a student is a non-resident.”  The OSSE Notice letter that all 

Plaintiffs received here specifies no basis at all for OSSE’s findings. 

27. 5A DCMR § 5009.3(b) requires that the Notice “[n]otify the student or 

student’s parent, guardian, custodian or other primary caregiver that they have ten (10) 

business days from the date the written notification is issued to request an administrative 

review of the non-residency finding by an impartial party or office[r] assigned by OSSE 

to review such matters and render a final decision.”  OSSE’s Notice letter contains no 

advice of Plaintiff’s appeal rights, and no mention of the 10-business day window 

within which review must be sought. 

28. 5A DCMR § 5009.3(c) specifically requires that OSSE “[e]xplain that the 

student may remain enrolled at that school [where] he or she is attending school until a 

final administrative decision is made.”  OSSE’s Notice letter not only fails to explain 

this point as required, but OSSE actually advises the Plaintiffs of the exact opposite of 

what the law requires – stating that merely because of its own (interim) findings, 

and before Petitioners’ appeal rights have expired, the student “thus is ineligible to 

attend a District school tuition-free.” 

29.  5A DCMR § 5009.3(d) requires that OSSE specifically warn recipients 

“that unless OSSE receives a request for administrative review of the non-residency 

findings within ten (10) business days after the date of the written notification, the non-

resident finding will become the final administrative decision, the student will be 
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disenrolled from the school, and the tuition will be owed for the period of time in which 

the student was enrolled….”  OSSE’s Notice letter apprises the Plaintiffs of none of 

these negative consequences if a Plaintiff declines to neglects to request review. 

30. 5A DCMR § 5009.3(e) also requires that OSSE’s Notice “[s]tate that if the 

student is voluntarily or involuntarily disenrolled from school before a final decision is 

made … the District shall calculate the a [sic] prorated amount of non-resident tuition 

owed … and that OSSE may take any authorized action to collect this amount.  Once 

again, OSSE’s Notice letter contains none of this required information.  

31. In sum, comparing the rote OSSE Notice letter that each of these Plaintiffs 

received to the “Notification” requirements required by law as specified in 5A DCMR § 

5009, it frankly appears that none of that section’s legal requirements was met.   

32. In addition to these regulatory requirements, D.C. Code § 38-311(b)(4) 

also specifically discusses the need for the District of Columbia to provide “written 

notification of the determination of residency and other primary caregiver status to the 

person seeking to enroll the student, and, in the case of those whose documentation is 

found to be unsatisfactory, the reasons therefor and a written description of procedures 

for appellate review and appeal of the determination.”     

33. OSSE’s Notice letters sent to Plaintiffs were woefully deficient, and kept 

Plaintiffs entirely in the dark – Plaintiffs were never told of the basis for OSSE’s 

decisions, never afforded any opportunity for corrective action, and never told of their 

appellate rights, with consequences in the interim either hidden or even misstated.   

WHEREFORE, this Court should issue a Declaratory Judgment, finding OSSE’s 

deficient Notice letters to be in violation of DC’s legal requirements, and thus null and 
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void, and should further declare that OSSE’s Notice letters as issued cannot trigger 

Plaintiffs’ appeal deadlines or allow any negative consequences to vest against Plaintiffs. 

Count Two 
Violation of Due Process and Equal Protection 

(Under 42 U.S.C. §§ 1983 & 1988) 
 

34. Plaintiffs hereby incorporate all previous paragraphs of this Complaint as 

if set forth herein verbatim. 

35. Plaintiffs had clearly established rights under the Constitution of the 

Untied States, including but not limited to the right under the Fifth and Fourteenth 

Amendments to due process of law, and equal protection. 

36. At all relevant times herein, OSSE and its agents, servants and employees, 

acting under color of state law, owed a continuing duty to reasonably ensure that the 

clearly-established federal constitutional and civil rights of Plaintiffs were not violated, 

and to reasonably ensure that Plaintiffs’ rights in this regard were adequately protected. 

37. By the activities described above, OSSE and its agents, servants and/or 

employees, acting under color of state law as conferred on them by the District of 

Columbia, violated these duties, by depriving Plaintiffs of their federal constitutional 

rights, including but not limited to: 

a. Due Process of law, under the Fifth and Fourteenth Amendments, 

including the right to appeal and to be advised of appellate procedures 

following an adverse judgment by an administrative agency; and  

b. Equal Protection of the laws, under the Fifth and Fourteenth Amendments, 

including the right to avoid being selectively targeted for investigation. 
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38. OSSE and its agents, servants and employees, acting under color of state 

law, subjected Plaintiffs to the deprivations as set forth above, in denial of the rights, 

privileges and immunities guaranteed to Plaintiffs by the United States Constitution. 

39. The aforementioned acts, omissions and systemic deficiencies, as 

evidenced by OSSE’s similar pattern of conduct imposed on each Plaintiff, and the same 

deficient OSSE Notice letter sent to each Plaintiff, represents a policy and custom which 

constitutes part of a pattern and practice of improper conduct by the District. 

40. OSSE failed to take adequate and reasonable steps to end this improper 

course of conduct, or to ensure that the known constitutional and civil rights of Plaintiffs 

were not routinely violated, as confirmed by OSSE’s continuing refusal to share its lists 

of affected students with Ellington, so that those rights violations might be mitigated. 

41. OSSE’s actions were carried out as a function of the District of Columbia 

government, and/or with knowledge and consent of the District of Columbia government  

42. The acts alleged herein violated clearly-established federal constitutional 

rights of the Plaintiffs, were not objectively reasonable, and were done under 

circumstances in which no reasonable official in the aforementioned positions would fail 

to realize that his or her conduct represented a violation of Plaintiffs’ 

43. The aforementioned acts were also carried out with deliberate indifference 

to Plaintiffs’ known constitutional rights, with OSSE’s refusal to release its lists of 

affected students (even after being advised of a violation of those rights) representing a 

bad faith ratification by OSSE of a known deprivation of Plaintiffs’ constitutional rights. 

WHEREFORE, this Court should issue a Declaratory Judgment, finding OSSE’s 

Notice letters to be in violation of the United States Constitution and Plaintiffs’ clearly 
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established civil rights, and thus null and void, and should further declare that OSSE’s 

Notice letters as issued cannot trigger Plaintiffs’ appeal deadlines or allow any negative 

consequences to vest against Plaintiffs. 

PRAYER FOR RELIEF 

 Plaintiffs respectfully pray that this Court enter judgment on behalf of Plaintiffs 

and against Defendant, and order relief against the Defendant as follows: 

A. This Court should enter a Declaratory Judgment finding that all of OSSE’s 

Notice letters issued against Plaintiffs, declaring 164 students to be non-DC 

residents without OSSE describing its basis therefor, and imposing various 

penalties without advising Plaintiffs of any of their appellate or other rights, 

were issued in violation of codified law and in violation of Plaintiffs’ 

recognized due process rights, and will therefore be treated as null and void; 

B. This Court should issue a temporary restraining order, as well as preliminary 

and permanent injunctive relief, in favor of the Plaintiff, restraining OSSE 

from arguing or taking any position that its current Notice letters may be 

treated as a final action of the agency because of any Plaintiff’s failure to 

appeal the current Notice letters within 10 business days of their issuance. 

C. This Court should impose on the Defendant all costs of this action, plus 

statutory attorney’s fees pursuant to 42 U.S.C. § 1988 if warranted, and such 

other and further relief as the Court may deem just and appropriate. 
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JURY DEMAND 

Plaintiffs demand a trial by jury as to all issues so triable. 

Respectfully Submitted, 

___________________________ 
    Gregory S. Smith (D.C. Bar #472802) 

Law Offices of Gregory S. Smith 
913 East Capitol Street, S.E. 
Washington, D.C. 20003 
(202) 460-3381 
1 (877) 809-9113 (Facsimile) 

    gregsmithlaw@verizon.net 
 
    Attorney for Plaintiffs 

mailto:gregsmithlaw@verizon.net�

